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FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

)
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) CRIMINAL NO. 9%’9’40(/4 E
)
v. ) 18 U.S.C. §371 (Conspiracy)
) 15U.S.C. §78dd-2(a)(3) (Foreign Corrupt Practices Act)
DAVID H. MEAD and ) 18 U.S.C. §1952 (Use of Facility in Foreign Commerce
FRERIK PLUIMERS, ) in Aid of Racketeering)
) 18 U.S.C. §2 (Aiding and Abetting)
)
defendants. )
)
SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES THAT:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

1. At all times material to this Indictment, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977
(“FCPA”), as amended, 15 U.S.C. §§78dd-1, ef seq., was enacted by Congress for the purpose
of, among other things, making it unlawful for United States persons, businesses, and residents to
use the United States mails, or any means or instrumentality of interstate or foreign commerce in
furtherance of an offer, promise, authorization, or payment of money or anything of value to a
foreign government official for the purpose of obtaining or retéining business for, or directing
business to, any person.

2. At all times material to this Indictment, the Travel Act, 18 U.S.C. §1952, was
enacted by Congress for the purpose of making it unlawful for any person to travel or cause

others to travel across state or foreign boundaries, or to use facilities in interstate or foreign



commerce, with the purpose of thereafter engaging in certain violations of state criminal laws,

including bribery.

The Corporate and Other Entities
3. At all times material to this Indictment:
a. Saybolt North America Inc. was a business incorporated under the laws of the

State of Delaware, and having its principal place of business in Parsippany, New Jersey. Along
with the other Saybolt entities described below, Saybolt North Am’en'ca Inc. was a holding
company that was, itself, wholly owned by a holding company incorporated in The Netherlands,
Saybolt International BV (“Saybolt International”). Saybolt North America Inc. was a
“domestic concern” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. §78dd-2(h)(1)(B).

b. Saybolt Inc. was a business incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware,
with its principal place of business in Parsippany, New Jersey. Saybolt Inc., a subsidiary of
Saybolt North America Inc., was a “domestic concern” as that term 1s defined in 15 U.S.C.
§78dd-2(h)(1)(B).

C. Saybolt Western Hemisphere was an unincorporated association comprised of
various aﬁiliate;d Saybolt corporations and entities located in the United States, Canada, Mexico,
and various nations of the Caribbean, Central America, and South America. The principal place
of business of Saybolt Western Hemisphere was in Parsippany, New Jersey. The officers,
directors, employees, and agents of Saybolt Western Hemisphere were also the oﬁicers, directors,
employees, and agents of Saybolt North America Inc., and Saybolt Inc. Saybolt Western

Hemisphere was a “domestic concern” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. §78dd-2(h)(1)(B).
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d. Saybolt de Panama, S.A. (“Saybolt de Panama”) was a business entity, owned by
Sa;bolt International, and incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Panama, with its
principal place of business in Panama City, Panama.

e. Saybolt International, and the unincorporated association described above known
as Saybolt Western Hemisphere, owned, controlled, and operated various companies, including
entities located in the United States and Central America. These included Saybolt Inc., Saybolt
North America Inc., and Saybolt de Panama. Saybolt International exercised its ownership,
management, and operational control over these entities, including Saybolt North America Inc.,
Saybolt Inc., and Saybolt‘de Panama, through its unincorporated association, Saybolt Western
Hemisphere.

f. Saybolt Inc. provided executive management, financial management, and
administrative services to Saybolt-related companies in the western hemisphere, »including Saybolt
de Panama. Certain officers and employees of Saybolt Inc. were responsible for managing,
overseeing, and directing the operations of Saybolt-related companies located outside the United
States, including Saybolt de Panama, and operated at various times from offices in Parsippany,
Néw Jersey an;i Miami, Florida.

g Saybolt North America Inc. and Saybolt Inc. as well as Saybolt Western
Hemisphere and Saybolt de Panama, by and through their subsidiaries and affiliates, engaged in
the business of performing quantitative and qualitative testing of bulk commoditieé, such as oll,
gasoline, and other petrochemicals, as well as grains, vegetable oils and other commodities.

h. A portion of the revenues earned by the Saybolt companies’ Latin American
subsidiaries and affiliates, including Saybolt de Panama, was billed and collected by Saybolt Inc. in
the District of New Jersey and elsewhere. Saybolt Inc., in turn, provided operating and other
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funds from accounts maintained in the United States to its Latin American affiliates, including
Sa;rboit de Panama.
Th ividual

4. At all times material to this Indictment, defendant David H. Mead (“MEAD”) was
a citizen of the United Kingdom, and a resident of the United States. MEAD held the following
positions: (1) President and Chief Executive Officer of Saybolt Inc.; (2) Execuﬁve Vice-President
and Chief Executive of Saybolt North America Inc.; and (3) Chief Executive Officer of Saybolt
Western Hemisphere. As such, MEAD was an officer, director, and agent of “domestic
concerns” as that term is defined’in 15 U.S.C. §78dd-2(h)(1)(B). MEAD was also Executive
Vice-President of Saybolt International and a shareholder of Saybolt International.

5. MEAD, a resident of the District of New Jersey at all times material to this
Indictment, was granted Resident Alien status, and received a “green card” from the United States
Immigration and Naturalization Service on or about May 14, 1992. Therefore, MEAD was
himself a “domestic concern,” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. §78dd-2(h)(1)(A).

6. - Atall times material to this Indictment, defendant Frerik Pluimers (“PLUIMERS”)
was a national and resident of The Netherlands. PLUIMERS held the following positions: (1)
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Saybolt Inc.; and (2) President and Chairman of the Board
of Directors of Saybolt North America Inc. As such, PLUIMERS was an officer, director, and
agent of “domestic concerns” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. §78dd-2(h)(1)(B).
PLUIMERS was also Presidént and Chief Executive Officer of Saybolt International and a
shareholder of Saybolt International.

7. At all times matenial to this Indictment, “Employee A” was a United States citizen,
who was an employee of Saybolt Inc. and was the general manager of the Saybolt companies’

4-



Latin American operations, with responsibility for supervising the operations of Saybolt de
Panama. As such Employee A was a “domestic concern,” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C.

§78dd-2(h)(1)(A) and an employee and agent of a “domestic concern” as that term is defined in

15 U.S.C. §78dd-2(h)(1)(B).



COUNT ONE
CONSPIRACY (18 U.S.C. §371)
8. The Grand Jury incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1-
7 above and further charges that:
9. From in or about December 1994 to on or about October 31, 1996 at Parsippany
in the District of New Jersey and elsewhere, defendants herein,
DAVID H. MEAD,
a “domestic concern” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. §78dd-2(h)(1)(A), and an officer,
director, and agent of “dpmestic concerns,” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. §78dd-
2(h)(1)(B), to wit, Saybolt North America Inc., Saybolt Inc., and Saybolt Western Hemisphere;
and
FRERIK PLUIMERS,
an officer, director, and agent of “domestic concerns,” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C.
§78dd-2(h)(1)(B), to wit, Saybolt North America Inc., Saybolt Inc., and Saybolt Western
Hemisphere, together with others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, including Employee A,
who was a “domestic concern” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. §78dd-2(h)(1)(A), did
knowingly and willfully conspire and agree with each other to commit offenses against the United
States, to wit:
a. to use the mails and means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce
corruptly and willfully in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay,
and the authorization of the payment of money, that is, $50,000, to certain
individuals, while knowing that all or a portion of such money would be
offered, given, and promised, directly and indirectly, to officials of the
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government of the Republic of Panama, who were foreign officials as that
term is defined in 15 U.S.C. §78dd-2(h)(2), for the purpose of inﬂueﬁcing
the acts and decisions of said foreign officials in their official capacities;
inducing said foreign officials to do or omit to do acts in violation of their
lawful duties; and inducing said foreign officials to use their influence with
the Government of the Republic of Panama, to affect and influence acts and
decisions of that government, in order to assist Saybolt North America
Inc., Saybolt Inc., and Saybolt Western Hemisphere in obtaining and
retaining business for, and directing business to, Saybolt de Panama,
Saybolt North America Inc., Saybolt Inc., and Saybolt Western
Hemisphere, in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-
2(a)(3); and

to travel and cause others to travel in interstate and foreign commerce and
to use facilities in interstate and foreign commerce with intent to promote,
manage, establish, carry on, and facilitate the promotion, management,
establishment, and carrying on of an unlawful activity, namely, bribery in
violation of the laws of the State of New Jersey, specifically, New Jersey
Statutes Annotated §2C:21-10, and thereafter to perform and attempt to
p-ér-form such promotion, management, establishment, carrying on and
facilitation of the promotion, management, establishment, and carrying on
of such unlawful activity, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Section 1952(a)(3)(A).



BJECTI
10.  The purposes and objectives of the conspiracy were:

a. To obtain contracts for Saybolt de Panama and its affiliates to perform
import control and inventory inspections for the Ministry of Hydrocarbons, and the
Ministry of Commerce and Industries, b‘oth departments of the Government of the
Republic of Panama;

b. To obtain and to expedite tax benefits for Saybolt de Panama and its
affiliates from the Government of the Republic of Panama, including exemptions from
import taxes on materials and equipment and reductions in annual profit taxes;

C. To obtain from an agency of the Government of the Republic of Panama a
secure and commercially attractive operating location for an inspection facility in Panama;
and

d. To “lock out” Saybolt’s competitors by retaining possession and control of
Saybolt de Panama’s existing location in Panama.

MANNER AND MEAN T NSPIRACY
11. It was part of the conspiracy that MEAD, PLUIMERS, and others, known and
unknown to the Grand Jury, acting on their own behalf and as agents of Saybolt North America
Inc. and Saybolt Inc. agreed to pay and authorized the payment of $50,000 to an intermediary for
senior officials o%%he Government of the Republic of Panama, in order to obtain a land concession
and various tax and other benefits.
12. It was part of the conspiracy that MEAD and PLUIMERS authorized and

approved the issuance of $50,000 from funds controlled by Saybolt International in The



Netherlands, for purposes of funding the payment to an intermediary for officials of the
Go}kvemment of the Republic of Panama.

13. It was part of the conspiracy that Employee A would travel to Panama to arrange
and supervise the delivery of the $50,000 payment, through certah;x intermediaries to Panamanian
government officials.

14. It was part of the conspiracy that PLUIMERS would cause $50,000 to be wire
transferred from The Netherlands to Panama, in connection with funding the payment to officials
of the Government of the Republic of Panama.

OVERT ACTS

15, Infurtherance of the conspiracy, MEAD and PLUIMERS, defendants herein,
together with others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, committed the following overt acts
in the District of New Jersey and elsewhere:

16.  In or about December 1994, in Panama, an employee of Saybolt de Panama sent
an interoffice message to Employee A outlining an opportunity for Saybolt de Panama to provide
services as “Hydrocarbons Independent Controllers” in the Republic of Panama, which would
enable Saybolt de Panama to move into a commercially favorable “Free Zone” location, with a
reduction in the “Rental Tax” rate paid by Saybolt de Panama. The message noted, “As I felt that
these offers were so much, I thought it could be, as normal in our Countries, that they wanted
Something undéf{he table.”

17. On or about January 6, 1995, Employee A sent an electronic mail message (“e-
mail”) to MEAD outlining the discussion between the employee of Saybolt de Paﬁama and the
Panamanian officials and advising MEAD that, “wé desperately need a facility we can call our

own as our present situation is very tenuous.”



18.  Onor about June 2, 1995, Employee A sent an e-mail to MEAD stating that
Employee A had scheduled a trip to Panama to meet with officials of the National Port Authority
of Panama. The purpose of the trip was to “find out exactly what it is they are offering — and
what it is they want (for themselves, read $3%).”

19.  Onor about October 17, 1995, Employee A sent a memorandum by telefax from
the Miami, Florida office of Saybolt Inc. to MEAD at Saybolt Inc.’s Parsippany, New Jersey
headquarters. The memorandum detailed the progfess of negotiations in Panama and outlined the
anticipated benefits from the proposed arrangement with Panamanian authorities. Among other
things, the memorandum stated Employee A’s belief that “this is the best opportunity to ever
present itself to Saybolt in Panama. We are dealing with very high levels of the Panamanian -
government and we are obviously poised to gain a lot from this project.” The memorandum also
stated, “the ‘fee’ for all of this being accomplished is $50,000.00 () . . . We simply submit our
paperwork and the cash — if we pay, all is ours. If we don’t, we get nothing. Welcome to the
Third World!”

20. On or about October 23, 1995, MEAD sent an e-mail to Employee A responding
to Employee A’s fax of October 17, 1995. MEAD’s e-mail asked, “How will the $50K ‘fee’ be
justified in writing?” MEAD’s e-mail further instructed the employee to “ensure that the costs
and capex [which MEAD and Employee A understood to mean capital expenditure costs]
involved in Panéfr;a are as controlled as we can make them, even allowing for the manner in which
business is done south of the Florida Keys.”

21.  On or about October 25, 1995, Employee A sent an e-mail to MEAD in

Parsippany, New Jersey. Responding to MEAD’s request for justification for the “$50K ‘fee,””
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the e-mail stated, “I do not know exactly how one justifies a cash ‘gift’ (payoff).” The e-mail
further advised MEAD that, “no receipts will be given.”

22. On or about November 9, 1995, MEAD and PLUIMERS, as well as others known
and unknown to the Grand Jury, attended a meeting of the Board of Directors of Saybolt North
America Inc. which was held at Saybolt Inc.’s headquarters in Parsippany, New Jersey. At that
meeting, MEAD, PLUIMERS, Employee A, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury
discussed the $50,000 payment demanded by the Panamanian officials.

23. On or about December 17, 1995, Employee A traveled by commercial airline from
New Jersey to Panama. .

24, On or about December 17, 1995, after Employee A arrived in Panama, he learned
that the funds needed to pay the $50,000 bribe had not been received from The Netherlands.

25. On or about the morning of December 18, 1995, Employee A made a telephone
call from Panama City, Panama to MEAD in New Jersey and informed him that the funds for the
bribe payment had not arrived in Panama.

26. On or about the morning of December 18, 1995, MEAD sent an e-mail to
Employee A at Saybolt de Panama’s office. The e-mail stated:

Per telcon undersigned and capo grande Holanda the back-up software can be

supplied from The Netherlands. As previously agreed, you to detail directly to NL

attn FP.

27. On or about the morning of December 18, 1995, MEAD sent an e-mail to a senior
financial official of Saybolt Inc. The e-mail stated:

After various telcons with [Employee A] and [another individual] I have spoken to

FP re his supplying back-up software from NL to make up for software package

which we will transfer to the Panamanians. FP confirms he will facilitate same
when [Employee A] advises details to Rdam from Panama.
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28.  On or about the morning of December 18, 1995, at MEAD’s direction, Employee
A caused another employee of Saybolt Inc. in the United States to send to Panama, by e-mail,
account information for wiring funds from The Netherlands to Panama.

29. On or about the morning of December 18, 1995, Employee A caused a telefax to
be sent from Saybolt de Panama’s office in Panama City, Panama to Saybolt International’s
offices in The Netherlands, addressed to th¢ attention of PLUIMERS. The telefax stated:

As a follow up to recent activities well known to you, we hereby request Funding
in the amount previously discussed for finalization of this important project.

Please arrange to transfer the amount discussed to our account as soon as possible.
The telefax listed the necessary account numbers and noted:

Wire Transfer must be made to Citybank, N.A. (New York) for further credit to
Saybolt de Panama S.A. account, Citybank, Panama.

30. On or about December 21, 1995, PLUIMERS caused $50,000 to be wired from
The Netherlands to Citibank, New York, New York, for credit to the account of Saybolt de
Panama.

31 On or about December 21, 1995, in Panama City, Panama, Employee A caused a
check in the amount of 350,000 to be drawn on a Citibank account maintained by Saybolt de
Panama.

32. On or about December 21, 1995, in Panama, an agent of Saybolt de Panama acting
under the directié;x of Employee A, cashed the above-described check and obtained $50,000 in
United States currency from a Panamanian company.

33. On or about December 21, 1995, in Panama, Employee A directed an agent of
Saybolt de Panama to deliver $50,000 in cash to an individual who Employee A believed was
acting on behalf of officials of the Government of the Republic of Panama.

-12-



34.  On or about December 21, 1995, Employee A traveled by commercial airline from
Par;ama to New Jersey.

35. On or about December 22, 1995, in the District of New Jersey, Employee A
reported to MEAD about the previous days’ events in Panama.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.
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COUNTS TWO-THREE
FOREIGN CORRUPT PRACTICES ACT (15 U.S.C. §78dd-2(a)(3))

36.  The Grand Jury incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in paragraphs
1-7 and 10-35 above and further charges that:

37. On or about the dates set forth below, in the District of New Jersey and elsewhere,
defendants herein,

DAVID H. MEAD,
a “domestic concern” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. §78dd-2(h)(1)(A), and an officer,
director, and agent of “domestic concerns,” as that term 1s defined in 15 U.S.C. §78dd-
2(h)(1)(B), to wit, Saybolt North America Inc., Saybolt Inc., and Saybolt Western Hemisphere,
and
FRERIK PLUIMERS,

an officer, director, and agent of “domestic concerns,” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. §78dd-
2(h)(1)(B), to wit, Saybolt North America Inc., Saybolt Inc., and Saybolt Western Hemisphere,
did use and cause to be used instrumentalities of interstate and foreign commerce, corruptly and
willfully in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay and authorization of the payment of
money to a person, while knowing that all or a portion of such money would be offered, given,
and promised, directly and indirectly to foreign officials, to wit, officials of the Government of the
Republic of Panérﬁa, for purposes of influencing acts and decisions of such foreign officials in
their official capacities, and inducilng such foreign officials to do and omit to do acts in violation
of their lawful duties, and inducing such foreign officials to use their influence with a foreign
government and instrumentality thereof to affect and influence acts and decisions of such
government and instrumentality, in order to assist Saybolt North America Inc., Saybolt Inc., and
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Saybolt Western Hemisphere, in obtaining and retaining business for, and directing business to,

Saybolt de Panama, Saybolt North America Inc., Saybolt Inc., and Saybolt Western Hemisphere.

COUNT DATE INSTRUMENTALITY OF INTERSTATE
AND FOREIGN COMMERCE
2 12/17/95 commercial airline (New Jersey to Panama)

LI

12/18/95 e-mail (New Jersey to Panama)
All in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-2(a)(3) and Title 18, United

States Code, Section 2.
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COUNTS FOUR-FIVE
USE OF FACILITY IN FOREIGN
COMMERCE IN AID OF RACKETEERING
(18 U.S.C. §1952)
38. The Grand Jury incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in paragraphs
1-7 and 10-35 above and further charges that:

39.  Onor about the following dates, in the District of New Jersey and elsewhere,

defendants herein,

DAVID H. MEAD and
FRERIK PLUIMERS,

* knowingly and willfully did use and cause to be used a facility in foreign commerce with intent to
promote, manage, establish, carry on, and facilitate the promotion, management, establishment,
and carrying on of an unlawful activity, namely, bribery in violation of the laws of the State of
New Jersey, specifically, New Jersey Statutes Annotated §2C:21-10, and thereafter performed

and attempted to perform such promotion, management, establishment, carrying on and
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facilitation of the promotion, management, establishment, and carrying on of the above unlawful

activity:

COUNT DATE FACILITY IN FOREIGN COMMERCE
4 12/17/95 commercial airline (New Jersey to Panama)
5 12/18/95 e-mail (New Jersey to Panama)

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1952(a)(3)(A) and 2.

A TRUE BILL

FOREPERSON

M Y. W
FAITH S. HOCHBERG
United States Attorney
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United States District Court

DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

VS.

DAVID H. MEAD and
FRERIK PLUIMERS

15 U.S.C. § 78dd-2((2)(3),
18 U.S.C. § 1952(a)(3)(A),
18 U.S.C. § 371, and
18US.C. §2

SUPERSE?%S(I)NDI TMENT
L fpFspsees) /
i i f.rlc/z’//’f(’e A[;ﬂ‘/]w/t

U.S. Attorney - Newark, New Jersey

GARY L. CUTLER, AUSA
United States Attorney's Office
970 Broad Street, Room 502
Newark, New Jersey 07102
(201) 645-2788

Form No. USA-48-CR7
(Ed. 2-26-92)
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